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stock originally_ owned _by William L. Black, taken in liquidation of
the indebtedness to him of -said· William L. Black. Iii the consti-
tution of the governing board' of the real-estlite company,',A. G.
Black being a nonresident of the state, and therefore diilqualified to
act as a director of a corporation in this state, he allowed William
L. Black to hold one share of· his stock, merely to, enable him to
qualify as a director. The balance. of his stock was left in the name
of the respondent Silas B. Jones, who was the attorney for the
company, but held in trust for the uSe and benefit of 'said A. G.
Black. It would be a travesty of if this nonresident stock-
holder could be permitted to organize a business corporation under
the laws of this state, through a mere resident figurehead, and
while taking to hiInself the protection of the laws of the state, and
the benefits of the incorporation, as a real manager, he could escape
the just responsibilities attaching to the office of a director. The
law looks to substance, rather than form. A court of equity has no
respect for mere shams. Decree will go comformably to this opinion.

PEOPLE'S PURE ICE CO. et at v. TRUMBULL et aLl
TRUMBULL et at v. FULLER et at

(CirCUit Court of Appeals, Seventh Circuit. October 24, 1895.)
Nos. 203 and 206.

L CONTRACTS-PART PERFORMANCE-STATUTE OF FRAUDS.
In a suit for the specific performance of a contract to execute a lease,

It appeared that C. and P., from Whom complainants derived their rights,
called on one T., and proposed to hire certain lands owned by him for
the purposeof erecting an ice plant; that the amount of the rent and
other terms were agreed on between them, but that O. and P. wanted
a lease for ten years, while T. was unwilling to give a lease for more
than five; that it was finally agreed between them that a lease should
be made for five years, with privilege of renewal for five years at a
revaluation, T. to have written leases prepared; that C. and P. there-
upon paid a month's rent In advance, and Immediately took possession of
the land, and proceeded to erect buildings and machinery costing $30,-
000, all with the knowledge and consent of T,; that C, and P. continued
to pay rent at the agreed rate for several months. Held, that there was
sufficient part performance of the contract to take the case out of the
statute of frauds, and that the successors of C. and P. were entitled to
enforce specific performance.

.. RES ADJUDICATA-'-JUDGMENT IN FORCIBLE ENTRY AND DETAINER,
A judgment for the plalntllf In entry and detainer proceed-

Ings to recover possession of Pl'emises of which the defendants were,
at law, only tenants from J;Ilollth to month, is nota bar to a suit in
equity by such defendants against the plaintiff to enforce specific per-
formance of a contract for a lease of the same premIses for five rears.

a. SPECIFIC PERFOR1tlANCE-FORM OF RELIEF.
When a .complainant established a right to specific performance

ot a contract for a lease, he Is not entitled to take, In lleu of such relief,
a decree for the value of the improvements he has put upon the prem-
Ises.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of the United for the NOlth-
,ern Division of the Northern District of Illinois.
-Rehearing denIed January 18, J8ll1L
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These suits· involve a controversy in regard to the right of the respective
parties to an artificial ice plant In the city of Chicago, and to the lot on
which thesllme is situated. 'rhe facts and the evidence are quite volumi-
nous. There are bills and answers, and cross bills and answers, all finally
consolidated in one suit. 'I'he matters involved have been several times re'
ferred toa master, and reports made. The first and principal report waS
set aslde,in the main, by the court upon exceptions, and a decree rendered
against the opinion and concluSions of the master.
The facts, so far as may be necessary to state them for the proper con-

sideration of the questions involved, are substantially these: Arthur R.
Clark and F. O. Pierson, being desirous of engaging in the manufacture of
artificial ice 'in the city of Ohicago, applied to Thomas Purcell in Decem-
ber. 1800, to buy or lease from him some ground on which to construct a
plant for that purpose. They wanted a lease for ten years, but Purcell
did not wish to let them have the ground for more than five years, except
upon a revaluation. The final agreement between the parties was that
Olark and Pierson should take a lease for five years at a monthly rent of
$50 a month, and pay the taxes and water taxes, with the privilege of an-
other five years at a revaluation at the end of the first five, to be settled
by arbitration or otherwise, as the parties should agree. By its terms the
lease was to commence to run on January 1, 1891. The premises leased
were the N. 175 feet of the W. ¥.J of lot 3, and the E. 22 feet of lot 4 in
block 1 in Oook and Anderson's subdivision of the W. ¥.J of the N. E. % of
section 24, in township 39 N., range 13 E. of the third P. M., otherwise
known as "Street No. 1278," on West Twelfth street, in the city of Ohica·
go, Oook county, Ill. The understanding was that a written lease was to
be executed, embodying these terms, and also giving to Olark and Pierson
the right of Ingress and egress at the rear of the lot demised. Clark and
Pierson paid a month's rent in advance, and went into possession, and built
a valuable building and plant for the manufacture of ice, with the knowl·
edge and consent of Purcell, who was to cause to be made aut a written
lease to be signed by the parties. Purcell did soon after have duplicate
leases drawn up, but Clark and Pierson declined to sign them, because there
was no provision for ingress and egress according to the verbal agree-
ment, and for the privilege of a renewal for five years upon a revaluation;
whereupon Purcell promised to have other leases drawn, embodying such
provisions, which was never done. As the suit is brought by Trumbulf
and Oheverton, the successors of Olark and Pierson, who afterwards formed
a corporation to nm the plant, known as the People's Artificial Ice Com-
pany, to enforce a specific performance of this oral agreement for a five-
years lease, and as the principal contest has been over the question whetheI'
it was a contract which a court of equity would enforce specifically, we
give the substance of the testimony taken before the master upon the ques-
tion of what it was.
F. O. Pierson testified: "A. R. Olark and myself first saw Thomas Pur-

cell about this property in the fore or middle part of December, 1890. We
told him that we were going to erect an ice plant, and a8ked him if he had
any ground that he could either sell or lease us. He said he had something
near the elevator, and we made an appointment with him for that aft-
ernoon. In the afternoon we looked at these premises. He told us of
what opportunities and benefit there were for us to get near the railroad.
'rhere was nothing particular done except that he said he would lease it
to us at the rate of $30 a month, but that was not carried very far, or
much done at that meeting. 'We made an appointment to meet Purcell,
and Clark and myself met him at his house. We talked about the length
of the lease mostly. We wanted a lease for ten years at $50 a month.
Purcell refused to do that. Then we went on with some other little agree-
ments. He made a note of it on a little piece of paper. The only thing I
remember that we could not agree upon was the five years of the lease.
\Ye wanted it for ten years, and he would not lease it for that price more
than five. and then renewal for five more at a revaluation. There was noth-
ing further said, only we told Purcell that we thought we would take the
premises, but wanted a few days to consider the matter. and talk with
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An!lerson. .Ie ,C8,n only remember that we disagreed on the five ,or ten
y'eilrS, and. It was at that time it was dropped. .He consented to leasing it
to us for fiVe with the privilege of renewal. We-were to have the
land for five Years .at $50 a month. At the enq. of five years it was to be
reI).ewed for five. years more; at a revaluation, which could be settled by
arbitrational' otherwise to suit ourselves. The lease was to begin January
1, i891. ,We were to pay taxes, water taxes, etc. Our talk covered fifty
feet frontage, and clear back to the other street or alleY,-200 and some feet.
A.bout three, Or four days after that, we had another conversation with
Purcell; l think Clark was along. There was not anything particular, ex-
cept that I haride!l piw $50 for. the rent, told him that we had concluded to
take the place, and asked him to make out leases. He said he could leave
that for his ,attorney to atten<t to some time. We took possession of the
premises within two weeks after that; I think between Christmas and New
Year's. We piaced the material all the ground, after. paying the first month's
rent. coal .yard adjoins this property on the west. Purcell was
around when,the.. material was hauled upon the premises. It was then
vacant..We. then commenced to build. Purcell was around at that time.
From the 1st of January to the 21st of June, we were ,making these im-

started up first on the 21st of June. 'We paid rent to
Purcell for· those six 1I10nths. We always paid it to him in person. He also
gave us a receipt. The receiI?ts are with Clark or the .receiver, if in ex-
Istence. Purcell executed the lease of the premises to us or the artificial

I think the leases are with the receiver; I 'won't be positive
though. I gave them to Clark or the receiver. The leases were ·never pre-
sented to me signed by Purcell. His attorney drew them up, I suppose.
He did not tell.me so, but said he was going to his attorney to have them
drawn up. That,was in June. The leases were drawn to the People's Ar-
tificial Ice Company as lessee. They were not accepted by the People's Ar-
tiflcial Ice Company for several reasons. One was on account of the depth
of the land. He agreed that we should have the land clear through to 200
and some odd,· feet,' and the lease read 170 or 180 .feet. That gave us no
outlet if he had a mind to blockade the rear. We told Purcell of it, and he
said he would fix that all right. He would not give us the full depth under
any circumstances,. but he could make another lease, or put a clause in it
that we should have the right of using the land for hauling, the same as
himself, and for ingress and egress. This was in June, 1891. In January,
1891, he had shown us the full depth, and wanted to sell it to us. I think
the. People's Artificial Ice Company was organized in February, 1891. When
the leases were presented to us, we told Purcell we could not sign those
leases the way they read. 'We wanted the full depth. The length of time
of. the leases was understood when we first talked with him. \Vhen we
objected to the leases, Purcell said he would produce other leases, and
put in a clause the right to use the rear of the lot in common with them-
selves. The People's Artificial Ice Company continued to pay rent after
that. We paid our rent right along until we fell in arrears late in August,
1892. I think in July we ran behind, but we paid him in the latter part of
July or the first part of A.ugust. I have no receipt showing payment of rents
during July and '<\ugust of 1891. I have only one receipt, and now produce
it. It is signed by Purcell. When we were building the property, I saw
Purcell aroup.d there. He made no objection to our making improvements
upon that land. He assisted us in the work. He helped us get In cinders
there for filling up. That was the only way he helped. It was filled in
where the building went in the first place,-where the freezing tank stands.
He was paid ·forhis work. Around the. boiler room was also filled up, but
Purcell did not do that. We bought Bome of the cinders from Purcell, and
they are now a part of the ground around the masonry. Purcell was around
when we were building the masonry, and did not make any objection."
Arthur R.Clark testified as follows: "I live at Irving Park, Chicago,

and am manufacturing distiIll1d water. I was associated with Pierson in
the artificial ice company. I know Purcell and Cheverton. I have seen
Trumbull. My. first business transaction with Purcell was in October or
November, 1890. 1'1er80n and myself were looking for a place to locate our
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ice factory. When we first Diet Purcell, we were talking about buying some
land on Tallman street. Purcell suggested some land he had on the cor-
ner of 12th street. Pierson, Purcell, and myself went and looked at It. We
did not settle anything that day. That was on Sunday, and we were not
talking about the lease or anything of that kind. Pierson and myself went
to Purcell's house Monday, and saw Purcell; and Pierson gave him $20 dn
the land, and said it was all satisfactory; we would make arrangements.
I think Pierson and myself saw him again Wednesday at his house. We
told him we were going to take the land at $50 a month's rent, and Pierson
gave him the balance of the month's rent,-$30. I wanted to get the land
for ten years, but Purcell did not want to let it go for but five years. Pur-
cell got the $50, and gave Pierson a receipt, and said he would see Munroe
about making a lease for five years. The only terms talked about were
just as I say. I wanted to get the place for ten years, but he did not want
to let us have it over five. He said that we could have it five years, and
promised to let us have it for another five years at a revaluation. He made
some memoranda of the terms of the lease. There was some dispute. He
wanted to have a track through to the corner, so he would not let the
whole of the land. There are 265 feet there, and he would not let the whole
go. He agreed that we could have the right of way over that land. He
said there would always be an outlet in the rear there. We were to pay
the taxes and water. After about a week or ten days from paying the rent,
we began to haul the material upon the land in controversy. The terms
of the lease were to begin January 1, 1891. We were about six months
bUilding the plant. Pierson paid right along. Until we got the factory
started, we were never behind rent. The July rent was the first we were
behind. Purcell was around all the time we were building the plant. He
sold us some cinders for it. He never made any objections to our build-
ing there. I never said anything to Purcell about the lease, but Pierson
gave me a lease that Purcell handed him,' and we looked it over, but it was
not satisfactory, and it was never signed. I was not present when Purcell
handed the leases to Pierson. They were not in compliance with the agree-
ment that he had made with us, or something of that kind; I don't remem-
ber in what regard,-something about getting in and out of the place. There
were several things. I took possession of the leases prepared by Purcell.
I don't know whether I gave them to the receiver or not. I got the leases
from Pierson at Aurora, and brought them to the city. Nobody requested
me to do so. I showed them to the receiver, and to James Taylor and to
Burry. I gave them to some one of the three, and I don't know as I ever
saw them again. Taylor and Huszagh told me the leases were of no ac-
count to anybody. At the time we were trying to sell to Given, Mr. Burry
saw and examined the leases, and said they were of no value. He had
some prepared in his own office. The building is constructed on sills 12x12,
and they. are on posts. The building is not connected with the machinery
part of it at all. There is masonry under the boiler arid engine, but not
under the building. The foundations for the engine, etc., are of the usual
character. The foundation of all engines is the same as that,-about twenty
cord of stone, and built down in the ground about seven feet. It could
not be built any other way. In the case of the engine and compressor, the
bolts run through· the ,foundation the same as ordinary. The boiler has a
brick and ,stone foundation. There is about 18,000 to 30,000 bricks in it.
It is builtin the way that boilers are always built. To remove the ma-
chinery, we would have to unbolt it,-take the nuts off the bolts. The bolts
run through the foundation, and the machine sets over that; and you take

I the ,nut off, and that leaves the foundation and the bolts there, and' the
machinery can be taken away. There are about twenty-five bolts through
that. It,;would not damage the machinery to take it away. The pipes are
all put together with union connections. You w01l1d not have to tear up
the foundation to take the machinery away. The building WOUld, not, be
any good but kindling wood. It is a temporary structure covered with cor-
rugated iron."
Thomas Purcell, a witJ:1,ess called on behalf of Fuller and others, testified
as "I live at No..1569 West12thstreet, and am in the Wood. and
coal 'Oush:;esB.' I own tlie property at the southeast corner of West'12th
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street ap.d hundr:ed and, forty ,feet frontage OD'
West, 12th street. I knowthe property in controversy, and it. isa part of
the said J>roperty,. that Il,lwn. ,It is fifty feet front on 12th str:eet, and I
occupy the other ninety feet front with my coal yard. On the fifty feet
refei'red to, there is an ice Ulanufacturing plant. I receive ground rent for
the premises. A. R. Clark and F. O. Pierson first spoke to me about rent-
ing the property. '.rhat was about two years ago. We have had a good
many conversations about it. They first spoke to me of SOllle property on
Filmore street, west of Kedzie.Then they wanted fifty feet front of my
property running back two hundred and sixty-three feet to Washburne
avenue. There was a good deal of discussion in relation to the matter.
'.rhey wanted a ten-year lease, etc., a five-year lease, and they seemed 8at-
isfid with ul1-ything they could' get. I told them I wanted fifty dollars a
month ground rent, for the, fifty feet front 'and one hundred and seventy-
five feet deep, and that I would not rent over one hundred and
,five feet deep, because it would interfere with my coal business at a rail-
road switch that I wanted to use. They talked over in a slipshod kind of
a way that, if they were successful, they 'would buy the property in a year
probably. .I said I would, be glad to sell any time they were ready to buy
it, if W,e coulp. agree. Nothing was said about the price. The first notice
I hac;l that they were really in earnest was when I saw a pile of lumber on the
ground, and a carpenter ready to go on With the building. Clark and Pier-
son put the lumber Orily what I ha.ve stated took place before they
took possession. It was after the lumber was on the ground that they
paid me the month's "ent of fifty dollars. I never entered into a written
lease witll tpetu, or agreed With them on the terms for a written lease.
They said ,tlley wanted,thj;l. property to erect an ice manufacttlring plant
on it. 'l'hey, am notdeSGl'ibe, definitely the character of the improvement.
I never before saw an ice manufacturing plant, and didoot know what it
looked like. 'It. was not: qii;1c¥ssed, as to wholll the plant w()Uld belong to
after it was Pllt liP. or wbq had any right to remove the building they might
put on thepreD;lises." ' ',' ," . .' '

testified:, "When Clark and Pierson came
to me, wanted ,to chel\.pproperty upon ,which to erect an
ice manuJlacturing plant,and I showed them the cheapest we had. Tlie
property suited them very well, but tbey did not have any money., I told
them I would ):lot sell WitHout a payment down, and then asked them how
they would like .to lease It piece of property, and I took tpem down, and
showed,them thlsproperty, in controversy. There were" some objections
to the location, and they thought it too expensive. They went off to look
up something else, They called at my a week or two afterwards; I
think it was Mr. Pierson. .I think he called around and wanted me to make
an appointment with him and,Clark for the following Sunday, On the fol-
lowing Sunday, I told them, I would lease them fifty by One hundred and
seventy-five feet fifty ,dollars permoJ;lth, and I told them I would give
them an outlet at the rear:, ,of course. They wanted a lease for ten years.
I told them I would not tie up the land for that length of time, but was
willing to lease for five years, and that they might have the prop-
erty for fiVe ,years. That was the only conversation we had. There never
was any agreement. I wanted them to call around, and I Would draft them
something onJhe terms and conditions of the lease that ,would be satisfac-
tor:y to make witll them, but they never callep. on me aftllrwards.. I did not
agree with them. as to the, terms of a lease that I would execute to them.
I did not1i:j time at five years with the privilegeofa five-yearsexten-
sion. Yes, sir; 1 stated that the amount of rental would be $600 a year,-
fifty. dolla,rsper inonth. 'l'hat was as far as we went, that the lease should
be fifty doHars per month."
The evidence shows that the People's Artificial Ice Company, which suc-

ceeded to the rights of Clark and Pierson, went on in the winter and spring
of 1891 and built a plant costing about $30,000; that Purcell had his busi-
ness office immediately adjacent to the lot leased, and knew that ·the im-
provements .were being made; that he furnished the ice company coal fo
use in their business upon the lot, and furnished cinders to put in the foun-
dation for the building, and received monthly rent up to about August,
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1891, but that no written lease was ever executed. Purcell, though daily
about the premises, made no objections to the putting in of the improve-
ments. Purcell testified, on cross-examination, that Clark and Pierson were
to pay rent frOm January 1, 1891; that his coal office adjoined the prop-
erty; that the understanding was they were to have a tight of way across
the strip of land back of the 175 feet, and for free access back and forth;
that they wanted to know how they could go out, and he told them they
would have to get out the same way he did with the coal; that he saw them
making improvements, and did some work for them, and hauled cinders to
put under the machinery; that he was in the neighborhood at the time they
were making these improvements on the ground, and made no objection,
and did not see why he should. 'When asked, if there was but a month to
month letting, why he did not object to their making improvements on his
ground, his reply was: "I should think it would be foolishness for me to
object," and that he did not consider it his business to stop them. '£he fac-
tory so built was a rather extensive one, consisting chiefly of valuable ma-
chinery, the engine and ice-making machine being placed upon stone foun-
dations, the whole inclosed with a wooden structure covered with iron. It
was put into 'operation about June 20, 1891. The cost of the factory
exceeded the estimates, so that, when completed, the company was about
$15,000 in debt, which they owed to various creditors, and were much em-
barrassed and pressed for payment. In this condition of affairs, the evi-
dence shows that Purcell refused to execute a lease according to their oral
agreement, unless the company should pay him for coal advanced as well
as for the rent due. In October following, the promoters of the enterprise
applied to the Cook county circuit court for the appointment of a receiver.
Thomas Taylor was accordingly appointed, and gave a bond in the sum
of $30,000, and took possession of the plant, placing a custodian in charge
of the building until a sale was made by the receiver, under order of the
court, dated March 14, 1892. The receiver's report of sale, dated March 18,
1892, shows that he sold the plant to A. W. McDougald on March 16th,
at pilblic vendue, for the sum of $7,200, which report of sale was duly con-
firmed by the court. on the day of its date. Objections were made by Mr.
Burry, in behalf of Fuller (who had succeeded in the meantime, but with
full notice, to Purcell's interest in the property). to the confirmation, claim-
ing that the bidding of McDougald was the result of collusion. Burry had
bid at the sale against McDougald, and had run this property up to $7,195,
or within $5 of McDoligald's bid. Burry asked to have a resale, and in that
case offered to take the property at $7,500. The master to whom the matter
was referred found that the sale was fairly made, but recommended a new
sale, which the court refused to allow, and made final confirmation of the
sale made by the receiver. So that Trumbull and Cheverton, in whose in-
terest the sale was made, succeeded to the interest of the People's Artificial
Ice Company, whatever that might be, in the premises; taking a deed pur-
suant to the sale from the receiver, and being put in possession by him.
Previous to the sale, and about February 5, 1892, Purcell signed a notice
directed to the receiver and the ice company, notifying them that he had
elected to terminate their tenancy, describing the premises, on March 31st.
and requiring them to Surrender possession on or before April 1st ensu-
ing, which notice was served upon the receiver. Thereupon the general
creditors made strenuous efforts to have Cheverton and McDougald, his
counsel, see Purcell, and endeavor to get him to evidence his agreement
for a five-year lease in writing, and co-operate with them in getting a fair
sale for the benefit of all creditors, Purcell being one; but this Purcell de-
clined to do, saying he had parted with his interest in the premises. After
the sale, on March 16th, McDougald tendered to Purcell the rent then
due under the lease, and also tendered to him for execution a lease of the
premises. Purcell refused to accept the tender or to execute a lease, but
directed McDougald to deposit the money in the West Chicago Bank, witb
the leases, saying, if he decided to execute the leases, he would call at the
bank in a few days, and execute them and receive the money. Subsequently,
and on April I, 1892, Mr. McDougald again tendered to Purcell the full
amount of rent due to him under the lease up to and including the month's
rent whic!l due upon that day. Purcell again refused to receive
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the l'ent,$aying that he had "parted" with the premises, but, upon request,
he refused to say who was entitled to receive the rent.
On April 2, 1892, Trumbull and Cheverton filed their bill in the circuit

court of Cook county against Thomas Purcell, in which they set up sub-
stantially the facts heretofore set out in regard to the lease, the receiver-
ship proceedings, and the tenders of rent, and prayed for a specific per-
formanceof the agreement for a five-years lease at $50 a month, and pay-
ment of taxes. Process was served on April 6th, and subsequently a de-
murrer was filed on the part of Mr. Purcell by James E. Munroe, his solici-
tor. ThIs suit was afterwards removed to the United States circuit court.
Afterwards, on April 13, 1892, Richard B. Fuller appeared in the United
States circuit court, Northern district of Illinois, and filed his bill in
against Thomas Purcell, Trumbull, and Cheverton, setting up as against
the former a contract or option given to Mr. Burry for the purchase of the
premises in controversy, for. the sum of $10,000, which option was on about
the 31st/of. March, 1892, assigned in writing to s.aid Fuller; that, on April
11th, Fuller notified Purcell of his election to purchase, and offered to per-
form, but purcell refused; and, as against Trumbull and Cheverton, that
they claim and pretend that in March, 1892, they purchased the remainder
of .the term, took possession of the premises, and refused to surrender pos-
session to Purcell, which refusal Purcell assigns as his excuse for not car-
rying out his contract; and Pu,rcell's refusal to dispossess Trumbull and
Cheverton; that the ice manufaCturing plant situated upon said premises
has become affixed to the realty, and ought not and cannot be severed there-
from. The prayer is that Purcell be required to make a deed, and that it
be found and declared that Trumbull and Cheverton have no interest in the
premises. Trumbull and Cheverton filed their answer, denying the allega-
tions of the bill, and setting up their interest in the plant under the sale
from the receiver, and their right to a five-years term, commencing Janu-
ary 1, 1891. Purcell defaulted. Afterwards, and on the same 4ay (April
13th), said Fuller commenced in the same court, on the law side thereof,
an action in forCible detainer against Trumbull and Cheverton for the res-
toration of the. premises in controversy. Process was dUly served, and
instead of filing a plea in that action, apparently by inadvertence, Trumbull
and Cheverton filed an appearance only; whereupon a default was taken
against them, and jUdgment entered forthwith for possession,without their
knowledge or presence in court. Promptly upon the expiration of the stat-
utory five days, a writ of restitution was issued, under which the marshal,
accompanied by Mr. Burry, took possession of the premises for I!'uller,
May 11, 1892. Application was made before Judge Blodgett to set aside the
judgment and allow pleas to be filed. An affidavit was produ.ced, !:letting
up the facts in regard to the possession of Trumbull and Cheverton; and
the claim was made upon the motion that the lease under which Trumbull
and Cheverton claimed, while invalid at law for the full term agreed upon,
yet inured at law, after possession taken and rent paid or tendered, as a
tenancy from year to year, determinable, under the statute, only upon 60
days' notice given within the 4 months preceding the end of the year; and
that such notice had not been served; and that, therefore, there was a good
legal defense to the action. The court, however, on the authorities pro-
duced to him, at that time, was of opinion that in no event was a verbal
agreement for It term in excess of the period allowed by the statute valid
for a longer .time than 30 days at law; and, further, that, if the forcible
detainer action were on trial, he would have to instruct a verdict accord-
inglJ'. since, lease being void under the statute, there were no merits
to try at law,-for.which reason the motion to open the judgment was de-
nied. the court, at the same time suggesting thllt the defendants might have
equities with regard to the right to remove the plant, et<;., which could not
b(l there determined,llnd that a suit in equity was already pending to de-
teJ1.\ll.ine the rights of the Supplementary bills were afterwards filed
in':We, suitE\ pe:uding on both sides, and the cause consolidated and heard
together.. .., .. .. .

Arising on these bills! ,cross bWs, .and supplementary bills were
ref€l;j:eq ,tQ: Ii;. JO take iestlmonr, .ll:v,d report ,the same. with hIs con-

fOUIlil, th!l.t inovalid lease,
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was ever made by Purcell to Clark and Pierson, and that· the' improvementl:l
placed upon the premises by the artificial ice company were a portion of the
real property and belonging to it, and that '£rumbull and Cheverton had
no interest them; that the contract which they relied upon in the bill for
specific performance was obnoxious to the statute of frauds; that it was
too indefinite to support a decree for specific performance, and was violated
and terminated before any offer was made to perform it; and recommended
that the bill be dismissed for want of equity. The master also reported that
the material facts set out in the bill of Fuller and others were established
by the proofs, and that the agreement entered into by Purcell for the con·
veyance of the premises mentioned in his bill to the People's Pure Ice Com-
pany was a valid agreement, which should be enforced in that suit. Ex-
eeptions taken to the master's report being filed, and argument had, the
eircuit court rendered a decree in favor of Trumbull andCheverton, find·
ing: That a parol lease of the premises was made, with a reasonable right
of way over the rear or south end of said premises for ingress and egress;
for the term of five years from January 1, 1891, at a rental of $50 per month,
payable monthly in advance, and taxes, the premises being then vacant
and unoccupied. That, under said agreement and parol lease, the said the
People's Artificial Ice Company entered and with the knowledge and con"
sent of said Purcell, erected and built a house, and therein placed machin-
ery, a steam engine and boiler, a compressor, and other matters constitut-
ing a "plant" for the manufacture of artificial ice, of great value, and which
were trade fixtures, which said ice company and its assign or assigns, and
all other persons claiming from, by, through, or under it, were entitled to
remove, and were capable of being detached, and, at the will of said ice
eompany or its assigns, removed from said premises during said term, leav-
ing said premises in the same condition as when entered upon by said ice
eompany, doing no unnecessary damage to the freehold in effecting such
removal. That, by reason of the premises, said agreement for a lease is
taken out of the operation of the statute of frauds and perjuries, and that
the said the People's Ice Company was, and said Rollin H. Trumbull and
Edwin G. Cheverton, as its assigns, are, in equity and good conscience,

to a specific performance of said agreement and parol lease of the
said premises hereinabove described and set out, for the said term of five
years from the first day of January, A. D. 1891, upon the terms and condi-
tions aforesaid, and upon payment of the rent at the rate aforesaid, for
the month of July, 1891, to and including the month of May, 1892, to wit,
the sum of $550, with interest on the same to date of payment from the 1st
day of each of said months, as the same accrued. That the complainants
Rollin H. Trumbull and Edwin G. Cheverton became, and were at the time
of filing their bill of complaint herein, duly vested with all the said righta
and property of the said the People's Artificial Ice Company, and in the
possession thereof, until evicted therefrom, as alleged in their. supplemental
bill: That said Rollin H. Trumbull and Edwin G. Cheverton be let into
possession of said premises, and remain in possession thereof until Decem-
ber 31, 1895, upon the payment into court of said sum of $550 and interest
as aforesaid, for rent heretofore accrued, to abide the further order of the
court as hereinafter provided, and upon continuing to pay the rent of $50
per month in advance for each month from the delivery or tender of pos-
session under this decree to the end of such term, such payments of sub-
sequent rent to be paid into court, to abide the further order of the court
until there shall satisfaction of any damages which may be awarded
said complainants, as hereinafter provided. It is further ordered, adjudged,
and decreed that said Trumbull and Cheverton are entitled to damages as
against said Thomas Purcell, Richard B. Fuller, and the People's Pure Ice
'Company for such damages and loss as they may have suffered from depri-
mtionof the possession and use of said premises and plant, an,d. for any
injury w1).ich has caused to the machinery and plant during the time
they have beeJ;l' <leprived of the possession thereof; and that these causes
are now. referred. to E.. B.Sherman, Esq., master in chancery, to take and
'state an acc.ouilt"of: such damages, and report the: Sl;\me to. the, court with
all proper dispatch; and that said Trumbull and Cheverton put in their evi-
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dence ,w!thln •ten, days fl'om tIlls date, and said defendants thel'ein within
ten days ,thereafter; and that said complainants close in rebuttal within
three days thereatter; and that, upon the coming In of the master's report,
application may be made thereupon for a further judgment, at the foot of
this decree, in respect to, such damages and as to the disposition of any.

in court.
Upon reference tl) the master to take proofs ofdeterioratton of the prem-

ises and, damages for the detention, the master made his report of the tes-
timony at great length, and found that Trumbull and Cheverton were en-
titled to recover for damages and loss sustained by reason of being de-
prived of the plant and premises by Purcell and the People's Pure Ice Com-
pany.the sum of $2,033.33, and tor the sum of $2,500; making
a total of $4,533.33. Upop, hearing, the cOl,lrt affirmed the report of the
master, and entered a decree in accordance with Its recom-
mendations. Trumbull andC1;leverton In the meantime had determined that
they dld not want the pl'emlses, and asked the court to modify the decree
so as to give them the of the premises In damages, which value the
referee found to be $20,000, in lieu of the premlses themselves. But this
the court refused to do. Both ,Pllr1les, being thus dlssatlsfied with the de-
cree of the court,have brought ,these appeals, to have the decree reversed
or modified to suit their vlews ot the justice of the case. There is a great
mass of testimony taken in the cases, both In the original reference and on
that for the ascertalnment, of damages, and a great,many facts not herein
stated, but these may. perhapll. be considered sufficient for the purposes of
thls opinion. '

William Burry and JamesE. Monroe, for appellants.
A. W. McDougald, for appellees.
Before WOODS and JENKINS, Circuit Judges, and BUNN, Dis-

trict Judge.

BUNN, District Judge (after stating the facts as above). The
principal questions discussed by counsel are: (1) Whether the evi-
denceshows such a contract for an interest in real estate, followed
by part performance upon the part of complainants in the original
bill, as to take the case out of the statute of fpauds, and entitle the
complainants to a specific performance. (2) Is the action for specific
performance barred by the judgment in the forcible entry and detain-
er suit? (3) Allowing that the complainants are entitled to have
the contract for a five-years lease specifically performed, are they
now, after the decree is entered as prayed for by them, entitled in
equity to a decree for the payment of the value of the improvements
put upon the premises by them, as damages in lieu of specific per-
formance? There are some other minor questions presented by the
record, but we think the case may be properly disposed of upon a
consideration of these.
Upon the first and principal question, we are of opinion that the

circuit court properly overruled the report of the master that the
case of, the complainants was barred by the statute of frauds, and
that no case was made for a specific performance. On the contrary,
we are of opinion that the evidence brings the case fairly within the
leading cases and the great weight of authority on this subject, for
specific performance of the agreement. All the l'equisites of such a
case are fairly complied with. The weight of testimony shows an
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'oral contract for the execution and delivery of a lease for five years
from January 1, 1891, of premises described with sufficient
including all the terms of the contract, and the payment of specific
rent. That it was the express understanding that such a lease
should be executed and delivered appears from the testimony; that
complainants were to enter into possession and build a valuable
plant with machinery for the manufacture of ice, with the privilege
of ingress and to and from the rear of the premises, they to
pay all taxes and water rents, and $50 per month rent in advance,
during the continuance of a five-years term. That Purcell so under-
stood the contract up to the time he conceived the idea that an oral
lease for five years was not binding, and that he might sell the lot,
plant, and all to other parties, is also quite evident. His after-denial
that the terms of any lease were agreed upon seems to be the result
of his legal conception that a lease for five years without writing was
void within the statute of frauds. It is clear from the evidence that
he caused a lease for five years to be executed, containing all the re-
quirements of the oral agreement, except that for ingress and egress
and for a second term of five years upon a revaluation; and, upon
complainants' refusal to accept the lease tendered, he promised to
have others made, but never did. It is also clear that he permitted
them to take possession, and that the improvements, costing about
$30,000, were put on with his daily knowledge and implied consent,
and that he even a1lsisted in making the improvements for complain-
ants.How: little the ca.se lacks of coming within the acknowledged
rule for specific performance Of an oral contract for an interest in
land, accompanied. by an entry into possession and the erection of
valuable improvements with the grantor's knowledge and permis-
sion, will be seen by a brief reference to some of the many cases on
this subject. To refuse relief in 'such a case wOllld be to encoUrage
fraud, which the statute requiring a contract for the sale of an in-
terest in land fora longer time than one year to be in writing, was
passed to prevent.
The general rule is laid down by Story, as follows:
"In the next place, courts of equity will enforce specific performan'ce ot

a contract within the statute where the parol agreement has been partly
earried into execution. The distinct ground upon which courts of equity
interfere in cases of this. sort is that otherwise one party would be able to
practice a fraud upon the other, and it could never be the intention of the
statute to enable any party to commit a traud with impunity. Indeed, fraud
in all cases constitutes an answer to the most solemn acts and conveyances,
and the objects of the statute are promoted instead of being obstructed by
such a jurisdiction for discovery and relief."

The rule is well laid down very recently by the United States su-
preme court in Riggles v. Erney, 154 U. S. 244, 14 Sup. Ct. 1083, as
follows:
"Indeed, the rule is too well settled to require further citation ot author-

ities that, if the parol agreement be clearly and satisfactorily proven, and
the plaintiff, relying upon such agreement and the promise of the defendant
to perform his part, has done acts in part performance of such agreement
to the knowledge of the defendant,-acts which have so altered the relations
of the parties as to prevent their restoration to their former condition,-ft
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fraud to allow the .defendant to Interpose the statutea'
a de:fe,J;lse, and thus to secure. to himself the benefit of. what has been done
In' part performance. It must appear, however, that the acts done. by. the
plaintllI 'were done in pursuance' of the contract, and for the purpose of
carrying It into execution, and with the consent or knowledge of the other
party.: ,While acts done prior to the contract or preparatory thereto, such
1108 delivering abstracts of title, measuring land, drawing up deeds, etc., are
not regarded as sufficient part performance, it is otherwise with such acts
•• takhig' open possession of the land sold, or making' permanent or valu-
able improvements thereon, or doing other acts in relation to the land man-
ifesUy inconsistent with any otper theory than that of carrying out the

undertaking."
The same doctrine had previoQsly been laid down in Railway Co.

v. McAlpine, 129 U. S. 305, 9 Sup. Ct. 286.
The same rule has been often declared by the supreme court of

Illinois, where the premises are situated, as may be seen from the
following adjudged cases: Bright v. Bright, 41 TIL 97; Kurtz v.
Hibner, 55 Ill. 514; McDowell v. 97 Ill. 489; Langston v.
Bates, 84 Ill. 524; Bohanan v. Bohanan, 96 Ill. 591; Smith v. Yocum,
110 Ill. 142; Irwin v. Dyke, 114 Ill. 302, 1 N. E.. 913; Morrison v.
Herrick, 130 m. 631, 22 N. E. 537.
The principle is well stated by Lord Cottingham in Mundy v. Jol·

liffe,5 Mylne & C.167-177, asfollows:
"Courts of equity exercise their' jurisdiction In decreeing specific per-

formance of verbal agreements when there has been part performance, for
the purpose of preventing the great injustice which would arise from per-
.mittil).g the party to escape from tne engagements he has entered Into upon
the ground of the statute. of frauds, after ,the other party to the contract
.has, upon the faith of such engagement, expended his money, or otherwise
acted in execution of the agreement. Under such circumstances, the court
will struggle to prevent such Injustice from being elIected;and with that
object, It has on the hearing, where the plaintilI has failed to establish
theprecisli ,claiws of the agreement, endeavored to collect, it It can, what
the terms of it really were." .

The supposition that a party would enter into possession of a .va-
cant lot, and expend so large a sum of money in making permanent
improvements,under a letting from month to month, is not to be
.indulged in, unless proofs. and circumstances make it necessary;
but such' improvements should be referred to an agreement for a
longer term, if such agreement can be fairly found from the evidence.
This principle is laid down by Woodfall in his work on Landlord

'Iand Tenant (1st Am. Ed. 189.9, ;yol. 1, pp. 165-167),. as follows:
"The laying out of considerable sums of money bya person who enters

,under an agreement fOr a long term is rationally to' be, referred to such
agreement, rather than to the mere tenancy at will, to be.impHed from such
entry. After such expenses have been incurred on the faith of a lease
!\greed to. be granted, it would .l>e frauduleut and inequitable. for a landlord
,to refuse to, grant such lease.".'
We think this language not inapplicable to the case at the bar.
2. It. isco:ptt;nded by Purcell and Fuller that the judgment in the

iforcible entry and detainer proceedings, and the refusal of the court
to open that judgment,constitute a bar tothis suit. But this con-
tention cannot be maintained. The withlt is the issues
juoe en:tir.ely 1:!ieJl;lsues here not only,w:ere not, but could
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not have "been, litigated in that action. That was an action at law
to terminate the lease, not a five-year lease, but a letting from month
to month, and recover possession for nonpayment of the monthly
rent. The. court treated the lease only as it existed at law, holding
it to be tantamount to a letting from month to month, and properly
refused to consider any larger equitable rights which the artificial
ice company or Trumbull and Oheverton might have in the premises
by reason of the contract with Purcell, expressly referring them to
this suit already pending on the chancery side of the court for the
ascertainment and protection of those rights. The judgment in that
case was conclusive of all the issues depending therein. Those is-
sues were whether the monthly rent had been paid when due, and,
if not, whether the plaintiffs were not entitled to terminate the
lease as it existed at law and to recover possession for such non·
payment. The issues here are quite different, involving, as they do,
questions of strictly equitable jurisdiction. When the suit for forci·
ble entry was commenced, two courses were open to the defendants.
One was to pay the rent overdue, and stop the proceedings. The
other was to apply to the court where this suit- in equity for a spe·
cific performance was already pending, for an injunctional order
staying proceedings in the case at law until the rights of the parties
in equity should be determined. Nothing of this sort was done, but
the defendants, after serving notice of appearance, made no defense,
and judgment went against them by default. But it is quite clear
that that judgment is not a bar to this suit. It terminated the
lease, as the court held it to be a letting from month to month, and
put the plaintiffs in possession; but it adjudged nothing in regard
to the equitable right of the defendants to a specific performance,
which they had prayed for in the suit already .begun on the chan-
cery side of the court. The rent 'due was afterwards tendered by
Trumbv,ll and Cheverton, and a demand for possession made, which
were both refused.
3. The contention of the complainants that they are entitled to a

decree for the value of the plant as damages in lieu of specific per-
formance is untenable, and must be denied. They get by the decree
what they prayed for, and, we think, all they are entitled to receive
under the evidence.
The evidence on the question of damages resulting from user and

deterioration is quite conflicting, the witnesses disagreeing very much
in .their estimates; but we cannot say that the amounts reported
by. the master and adopted by the court are not fairly sustained
by the weight of evidence. But we think that these damages, cover-
ing the entire period, should only have been assessed against Pur-
cell and Fuller. They should beheld responsible in equity from
being the actuating cause of the complainants being denied their
equitable rights under the contract, and being put out of the posses-
sion to which they were equitably entitled thereunder. But we are
'unableto see how the defendant the People's Pure Ice Company,
being a corporation, can beheld for damages accruing before it
was organized or went into possession of the plant. It would be

v.70F.no.2-12
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liable, no' doubt, for damages aceruiIig 'after it went into possession,
rbttt,these, not having. been separately assessed by the master, can-
not now be assessed without a further reference.
The decree of the circuit court will be affirmed in all thhigs except

as to the decree for damages against the People's Pure Ice Com-
pany, and as to those damages it will be reversed, with leave to the
complainants, if they so choose, to take a further reference to a
master to ascertain the proper proportion of the damages sustained
for the time that company was in possession, in which case, upon
the return of the master's report and confirmation thereof, a further
decree may be entered against the People's Pure Ice Company for
the damages so assessed.

The f6regoing opinion was afterwards modified as appears below:
. (November 13, 1895.)

BUNN, District Judge. In this case there is a motion by com-
plainants to modify the decree in respect to damages against the
People'S! Pure Ice Company, and also so as to require a further
reference to ascertain damages to the plant accruing since the de-
cree was entered. We think the decree should be modified in the
first particular named,and the motion overruled as to the 'last.
We think the entire damages assessed for use and occupation

covering'the period from May 11, 1892, when Fuller and Purcell
went into possession, up to May 23, 1894, the day after the entry
of the decree, should only have been assessed against Fuller and
PurceU,'and not against the People's Pure Ice Company, which did
not rgo into possession until August, 28, 1892,-3 months and 17
days after the termination ,of the forcible' entry and detainer ac-
tion, when Fuller and ,Purcell took the plant. But, as the basis of
estimating these damages. was the interest upon the assessed valua-
tion of the plant, there is no difficulty in determining from data
contained in the record the proportion of these damages properly
chargeable to the People's Pure Ice Company.
The damages 'for rise and occupation assessed by the master and

allowed 'by the court were determined by reckoning the interest
at 5 per cent. upon a valuation of $20,000 from May 11, 1892, to
May 23, 1894, a period of 2 years and 12 days, and amounting to
the sum of $2,033.33. The People's Pure Ice Company was organ-
ized on June 28, 1892, for the purpose of running the plant, but
did not take an assignment of the lease or go into possession until
August 28th, and so should not be chargeable for use during that
interval. The,interest upon that sum at 5 per cent, from May 11th
to August 28th,-3 months and 17days,-amounting to $297.22,
being deducted from $2,033.33, leaves $1,736.11 as the proper amount
with which the People'sP\:1re Ice Company should be chargeable.
As to: the $2,500 decreed against all the defendants on account

of dama'gesfrom deterioration, there is no difficulty in affirming
the decree asto the People's Pure Ice Company as well as the other
defendants, because those damages, according to the master's re-
port and all the testimony, arose from the shutting down of the
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plant on or about November 1, 1892, and allowing it to remain
unused for a period of some 18 months, up to May 22, 1894. There
is no evidence tending to show that any part of these damages ac-
crued between May 11 and August 28, 1892, before the People's
Pure Ice Company went into possession.
The decree will be affirmed in all things except as to damages for

use and occupation assessed'against the People's Pure Ice Company
from May 11 to August 28, 1892, and in respect to these the decree
as against the People's Pure Ice Company should be modified by de·
ducting the sum of $297.22 from the aggregate sum allowed by the
decree for damages.
The motion for a further reference to a master to ascertain dam-

ages sustained to the plant since the entry of the decree will be
overruled. Supposing that might be done in any case (a question
we do not determine), the decree in this case gave the complainants
the right to the possession. The bond given on appeal was not a
supersedeas bond, but only for costs; and, if complainants have
not taken possession, it is only because they did not wish to do so.

OHURCH OF CHRIST AT INDEPENDENCE, MO., et al. v. REORGAN-
IZED CHURCH OF JESUS CHRIST OF LATTER-DAY SAINTS. 1

(Circuit Court of Appeals, Eighth Circuit. September 30, 1895.)
No. 516.

1. EQuITY':"'AsSERTING TITLE TO LAND.
A complainant who has only an equitable title to land cannot maIn-

tain a suit in chancery to recover possession of the land from an adverse
occupant, unless such occupant holds the legal title and the complahlant
seeks to obtain It, 91' unless the adverse occupant acquired possession of
the land under the alleged equitable title, or is so connected therewith
that it may be asserted against him. Accordingly, held, that a complain·
ant asserting an equitable title to land could not maintain a suit In chan-
cery to enforce it and to recover possession fl'om occupants who were al-
leged in the bill to be without any title, legal or equitable, to the. land,
and therefore occupied the position of mere trespassers.

L SAME-LACHES.
The R. Church of Latter-Day Saints brought suit, In 1891, against one

H., trustee, and others, to assert an alleged equitable title to land oc-
cupied by the defendants, and held by them for another church, It was
alleged In the bill that the person from whom both parties deduced title
had, In 1839, conveyed the property in question, with other lands, in trust
for a church of which the complainant was successor. It appeared that
this trust deed was not recorded until 1870, and its eXistence was un-
known until then. It was then recorded, and its existence thenceforth
well known to the complainant and its predecessors, but no claim to the
property was asserted until 1887, when a demand was served on the de-
fendants by the complainant's predecessor. No suit, however, was com-
menced until 1891. In the meantime the widow and heirs of the original
holder of the title had conveyed all the land alleged to be granted by the
deed of 1839 by a deed executed and duly recorded In 1848, under which
titles had been made to numerous persons who had bullt upon and Im-
proved the property, down to the bringing of the suit in 1891, and parts
of the land had been laid out and plotted as additions to a city, and
maps thereof 111ed. The defendants and their predecessors had paid
all the taxes .upon the land in controversy from the year 1867, and
IRehearing denied December 9, 18915.


